70128.2

101282

No. 70128-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LARRY CURRIER, LARRY CURRIER DBA AMERICAN CONTAINER EXPRESS, and AMERICAN CONTAINER EXPRESS, INC.,

Respondents,

v.

NORTHLAND SERVICES, INC.,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Matthew C. Crane, WSBA No. 18003 Holly L. Beauchene, WSBA No. 42173 Attorneys for Appellant

BAUER MOYNIHAN & JOHNSON LLP 2101 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2400 Seattle, Washington 98121 Telephone: 206-443-3400 Facsimile: 206-448-9076 E-mail: mccrane@bmjlaw.com E-mail: hlbeauchene@bmjlaw.com

II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
А.	Procedural history
В.	Northland's Contract with Currier11
C.	Currier's Poor Performance and Disruptive Behavior12
D.	Currier's Complaint About a Driver's Joke
E.	Northland's Termination of Currier's Contract14
F.	Northland's Discovery of Currier's Dangerous Tires15
IV.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
v.	ARGUMENT
А.	Standards of Review
B.	The Trial Court Erroneously Concluded that Northland Retaliated Against Currier Within the Meaning of R.C.W. §49.60.210(1) When It Terminated His Contract for Opposing What He Reasonably Believed was Illegal Discrimination
	1. R.C.W. §49.60.210(1) is Clear and Unambiguous20
	2. Currier Failed to Establish a Prima Facie Case of Retaliation

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT.)

.

	3. There Is No Evidence of any Discriminatory Employment Practice by Northland and Currier Admittedly Did Not Oppose any Discrimination by Northland
	4. There is No Evidence that Currier Reasonably
	Believed He was Opposing Discrimination
	Forbidden by the WLAD
C.	The Trial Court Erroneously Concluded that Northland
	Failed to Meet its Burden of Proof on its After-
	Acquired Evidence Defense
D.	The Trial Court Erroneously Concluded that Currier
	Was the Prevailing Party and Was Entitled to Recover
	Attorneys' Fees and Costs
VI.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

.

.

CASES

Ausler v. Ramsey, 73 Wn.App. 231, 868 P.2d 877 (1994)20
Bahr v. Capella Univ., 788 N.W.2d 76 (Minn. 2010)
Blackford v. Battelle Mem'l Inst., 57 F.Supp.2d 1095 (E.D. Wash. 1999)
Blinka v. Washington State Bar Ass'n, 109 Wn.App. 575, 36 P.3d 1094 (2001), review denied 146 Wn.2d 1021 (2002)36
Bythewood v. Unisource Worldwide, Inc., 413 F.Supp. 2d 1367 (N.D.Ga. 2006)
Chapman v. AI Transp., 229 F.3d 1012 (11th Cir. 2000)42
City of Spokane v. Rothwell, 166 Wn.2d 872, 215 P.3d 162 (2009)18, 20
Clark County Sch. Dist. v. Breeden, 532 U.S. 268, 121 S.Ct. 1508, 149 L.Ed.2d 509 (2001)
Clover v. Total Sys. Servs., Inc., 176 F.3d 1346 (11th Cir. 1999)
Cooper v. Postmaster Gen., 59 F.Supp.2d 256 (D.N.H. 1998)25, 34
Coville v. Cobarc Services, Inc., 73 Wn.App. 433, 869 P.2d 1103 (1994)
Crowley v. Prince George's County, 890 F.2d 683 (4th Cir. 1989)27
Delahunty v. Cahoon, 66 Wn.App. 829, 832 P.2d 1378 (1992)21, 23
Dempsey v. Harrison, 387 F.Supp.2d 558 (E.D.N.C. 2005)25, 34
E.E.O.C. v. Total Sys. Servs., Inc., 221 F.3d 1171 (11th Cir. 2000)
Ellis v. City of Seattle, 142 Wn.2d 450, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000)32
Graves v. Dep't of Game, 76 Wn.App. 705, 887 P.2d 424 (1994)24
Harper v. Blockbuster Entm't Corp., 139 F.3d 1385 (11th Cir. 1998)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT.)

•

CASES (CONT.)

Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., Inc., 162 Wn.2d 340, 172 P.3d 688 (2007)
Heriot v. Lewis, 35 Wn.App. 496, 668 P.2d 589 (1983)
Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440 (2001)27
In re Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 854 P.2d 629 (1993)20
In re Moore, 116 Wn.2d 30, 803 P.2d 300 (1991)21
Jansen v. North Valley Hosp., 93 Wn.App. 892, 971 P.2d 67 (1999)
Kunzler v. Canon, USA, Inc., 257 F.Supp.2d 574 (E.D.N.Y. 2003) 25, 34
Landmark Dev., Inc. v. City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 561, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999)
<i>Little v. United Technologies, Carrier Transicold Div.</i> , 103 F.3d 956 (11th Cir. 1997)25, 27, 32, 34
Marquis v. City of Spokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 922 P.2d 43 (1996)
Martin v. Kroger Co., 65 F.Supp.2d 516 (S.D. Tex. 1999) aff'd, 224 F.3d 765 (5th Cir. 2000)27
McClarty v. Totem Elec., 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006)43
McGovern v. Smith, 59 Wn.App. 721, 801 P.2d 250 (1990)19
<i>McKennon v. Nashville Banner Pub. Co.</i> , 513 U.S. 352, 115 S.Ct. 879, 130 L.Ed.2d 852 (1995)
McNorton v. Georgia Dep't of Transp., 619 F.Supp.2d 1360 (N.D. Ga. 2007)
Morse v. Antonellis, 149 Wn.2d 572, 70 P.3d 125 (2003)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT.)

.

.

CASES (CONT.)

<i>O'Day v. McDonnell Douglas Helicopter Co.</i> , 79 F.3d 756 (9th Cir. 1996)
Peeples v. Port of Bellingham, 93 Wn.2d 766, 613 P.2d 1128 (1980) (overruled on other grounds in <i>Chaplin v. Sanders</i> , 100 Wn.2d 853, 676 P.2d 431 (1984))
Sea-Pac Co., Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Local Union 44, 103 Wn.2d 800, 699 P.2d 217 (1985)19
Silver v. KCA, Inc., 586 F.2d 138 (9th Cir. 1978)24, 26-27, 29, 34
State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 313 (1994)18
State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 115 P.3d 281 (2005)20
State v. Rundquist, 79 Wn.App. 786, 905 P.2d 922 (1995), review denied, 129 Wn.2d 1003, 914 P.2d 66 (1996)20
State v. Vasquez, 109 Wn.App. 310, 34 P.3d 1255 (2001), aff'd 148 Wn.2d 303, 59 P.3d 648 (2002)
Stevens v. Brink's Home Sec., Inc., 162 Wn.2d 42, 169 P.3d 473 (2007)
Wagner Dev. Inc. v. Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Maryland, 95 Wn.App. 896, 977 P.2d 639, review denied, 139 Wn.2d 1005, 989 P.2d 1139 (1999)
Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County, 141 Wn.2d 169, 4 P.3d 123 (2000)
Willener v. Sweeting, 107 Wn.2d 388, 730 P.2d 45 (1986)
Wimmer v. Suffolk County Police Dep't, 176 F.3d 125 (2d Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 964
York v. Wahkiakum Sch. Dist. No. 200, 163 Wn.2d 297, 178 P.3d 995 (2008)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT.)

,

.

STATUTES

R.C.W. Ch. 49.60passim
R.C.W. §49.60.030
R.C.W. §49.60.030(2)
R.C.W. §49.60.175176
R.C.W. §49.60.178
R.C.W. §49.60.18021, 22, 23
R.C.W. §49.60.190
R.C.W. §49.60.210(1)passim
R.C.W. §49.60.218
R.C.W. §49.60.222224
42 U.S.C. §2000e-3(a)

REGULATIONS

W.A.C. 162-16-230(1)	22
----------------------	----

I. INTRODUCTION

A fundamental issue in this appeal is whether a racially derogatory joke made solely by one independent contractor to another independent contractor can constitute employment discrimination. The pivotal issue before this Court is whether a person who complains about that derogatory joke between those two independent contractors can make a claim for retaliation under R.C.W. §49.60.210(1) merely for believing he was opposing employment discrimination.

A trucking services contract between appellant Northland Services, Inc. (Northland) and respondents Larry Currier, Larry Currier DBA American Container Express, and American Container Express, Inc. (collectively, Currier) was terminated by Northland for poor contract performance and behavior disruptive to its operations. Currier claimed the termination was retaliation for opposing employment discrimination under R.C.W. §49.60.210(1), but Currier admittedly complained only about a joke made by one independent contractor truck driver to another independent contractor truck driver, and not about any employment discrimination by Northland. Although Currier's complaint fell outside the reach of the anti-retaliation statute, the trial court nevertheless entered a \$600,000 judgment against Northland. The anti-retaliation statute is clear and unambiguous. R.C.W. §49.60.210(1) prohibits retaliating against a person who opposes "practices forbidden by this chapter," R.C.W. Ch. 49.60, the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD). "Only opposition directed toward such practices is protected." *Coville v. Cobarc Services, Inc.*, 73 Wn.App. 433, 440, 869 P.2d 1103 (1994) (emphasis added). Currier alleged that he opposed employment discrimination when he complained about a joke between two independent contractors but not, as Currier admitted, any discriminatory employment practice by Northland. Applying R.C.W. §49.60.210(1) according to its terms, Currier's complaint falls squarely outside of the scope of the anti-retaliation statute and Northland's termination of his contract is not actionable under that statute.

Furthermore, the record lacks substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that Currier reasonably believed he was opposing employment discrimination, and Currier's belief that he was opposing employment discrimination cannot be reasonable when he admitted he was not opposing any discriminatory employment practice by Northland. Finally, any damages should have been limited to six days of contract income under the after-acquired evidence rule, when Northland discovered that Currier's truck violated federal and state law in default of his contractual obligations. The trial court's judgment should be reversed.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The record lacks substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that Currier reasonably believed he was opposing discrimination. (Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 4)

 The trial court erroneously concluded that Currier reasonably believed he was opposing discrimination in employment. (Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 5)

3. The trial court clearly erred when it refused to grant summary judgment against Currier, and abused its discretion when it refused to reconsider its denial, when both Currier admitted and the undisputed facts established that he never opposed any discriminatory employment practice by Northland within the meaning of R.C.W. §49.60.210(1), and thus Currier failed to establish his prima facie case. (Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration)

4. The trial court erroneously concluded that Northland retaliated against Currier within the meaning of R.C.W. §49.60.210(1) when it terminated his contract for opposing what he reasonably believed was illegal discrimination. (Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 7)

 The trial court erroneously concluded that Currier was protected against retaliation under R.C.W. §49.60.210(1). (Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 6)

.

The record lacks substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that Currier complained of racist conduct in the workplace.
(Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 9)

7. The trial court erroneously concluded that Northland acted with retaliatory intent when it terminated Currier's contract. (Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 9)

8. The record lacks substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that retaliation against Currier was a significant factor in Northland's decision to terminate Currier's contract. (Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 8)

9. The record lacks substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that Currier's contract is the only trucking services contract that Northland terminated. (Finding of Fact Regarding Liability No. 22 (page 7)¹ and Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 9)

10. The record lacks substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that there is no evidence that Northland had any policy of

¹ There are two Findings of Fact Regarding Liability No. 22 and two Findings of Fact Regarding Liability No. 23.

ensuring that trucks complied with federal, state and local laws. (Finding of Fact Regarding Damages No. 4)

11. The trial court erroneously concluded that Northland failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that it would have terminated Currier's contract on the basis of after-acquired evidence. (Finding of Fact Regarding Damages No. 2)

12. The trial court erroneously concluded that Currier was the prevailing party and that the fees and costs he requested were properly recoverable under R.C.W. §49.60.030(2). (Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law Regarding Damages No. 10 and Conclusion of Law Regarding Attorneys' Fees No. 5)

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Does a complaint about a single joke made by one independent contractor to another independent contractor, without any presence, involvement or participation by the contracting principal, constitute opposition to an employment discrimination practice?
(Assignments of Error No. 1-5)

2. Under *Marquis v. City of Spokane*, 130 Wn.2d 97 (1996), construing the meaning of the term "employee" in the WLAD to be distinct from that of an independent contractor, may a person claim

opposition to discrimination in employment when it is undisputed that the derogatory statement complained about was only made by one independent contractor to another independent contractor, and when the person admits he is not complaining about any employment discrimination by the contracting principal? (Assignments of Error No. 1-5)

Does a person come within the protection of R.C.W.
§49.60.210(1) for opposing an employment discrimination practice
forbidden by the WLAD by merely contending he had a reasonable belief
that he was opposing discrimination? (Assignments of Error No. 1-5)

4. Should a clear and unambiguous statute be given effect according to its terms as enacted by the legislature, without interpretation or construction by the court? (Assignments of Error No. 1-5)

5. Should the trial court have dismissed Currier's complaint when he failed to establish a prima facie case by admittedly not opposing any employment discrimination by Northland, the only claimed basis for his retaliation lawsuit? (Assignments of Error No. 1-5)

6. Does substantial evidence exist in the record to support the trial court's finding that Currier complained of racist conduct in the workplace when the only complaint he made to Northland was about a single derogatory statement from one independent contractor to another independent contractor in the freight yard of a public port terminal,

without any knowledge, involvement or presence of any Northland employee or manager? (Assignment of Error No. 6)

7. Did the trial court err in concluding that Northland acted with retaliatory intent and does substantial evidence exist in the record to support the trial court's finding that retaliation was a significant factor in Northland's termination decision, when the trial court found that Northland had legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for terminating Currier's contract? (Assignments of Error No. 7-8)

8. Does substantial evidence exist in the record to support the trial court's finding that Currier's contract is the only trucking services contract that Northland terminated when the undisputed evidence was that Northland had previously terminated another trucking services contract for unlawful conduct? (Assignment of Error No. 9)

9. Does substantial evidence exist in the record to support the trial court's finding that there is no evidence that Northland had any policy of ensuring that trucks complied with federal, state and local laws when Currier's contract and the contracts of the other independent truck drivers providing drayage services to Northland expressly required those drivers to operate in conformity with federal, state and local laws? (Assignment of Error No. 10)

10. Did the trial court err in concluding that Northland did not satisfy its burden of proof on the defense that it would have terminated Currier's contract based on the after-acquired evidence of the condition of his truck tires and license, when Northland's dispatchers testified they would have terminated his contract, when it was undisputed that Currier's truck tires did not comply with federal safety law, and when the photographs admitted into evidence showed the tires were dangerously bald and his truck license had expired more than six years before, all in default of his contractual obligations? (Assignment of Error No. 11)

11. When a plaintiff fails to prove his prima facie case of retaliation or that he reasonably believed he was opposing employment discrimination, or when a plaintiff proves only a trivial amount of damages, is he a prevailing party or entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees? (Assignment of Error No. 12).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

.

Currier was a commercial truck driver and independent contractor providing drayage services to Northland to transport cargo to and from its terminal between 2005 and 2008. RP 128, RP 198. In August 2008, Currier's contract was terminated because his performance had seriously

declined and was markedly substandard relative to other independent truck drivers also on contract to Northland, and his behavior was highly disruptive to Northland's freight operations. RP 554-555; RP 565. After being warned by Northland, shortly before termination he began yelling at another driver in Northland's dispatch office and attempted to start a fight there, prompting an ultimatum by Northland. Ex. 57; RP 552-553. When Currier's performance and behavior did not improve, his contract was terminated. Ex. 55; RP 561. Six days after termination, Northland discovered that Currier's truck tires were dangerously bald and his truck license had been expired for more than six years, RP 660; RP 666-667, plain grounds for termination of his contract for being in default of his obligation to operate in compliance with federal and state law. RP 671; Ex. 53.

In his lawsuit, Currier alleged his contract was terminated in retaliation for opposing employment discrimination, CP 396, but it is undisputed that he merely complained about a single joke made by one independent contractor driver to another independent contractor driver outside in Northland's freight yard. RP 594-595. Although Currier admitted the two drivers were independent contractors and that he was not opposing any employment discrimination by Northland, CP 253, he claimed retaliation under R.C.W. §49.60.210(1), the opposition clause,

merely by asserting he reasonably believed he was opposing employment discrimination. CP 396.

٠

Before trial, Northland moved for summary judgment, demonstrating that Currier's complaint did not fall within the retaliation statute as he was admittedly not opposing employment discrimination at all, the only basis for his lawsuit, and therefore he could not establish his prima facie case. The trial court erred in refusing to grant Northland summary judgment and again erred in denying reconsideration.

At trial, Currier failed to prove that he reasonably believed he opposed employment discrimination and failed to even testify that he reasonably believed he opposed employment discrimination. The court nevertheless found in favor of Currier on his retaliation claim despite finding the following facts: (1) Currier only reported to Northland a single derogatory statement by independent contractor driver Howell to independent contractor driver Martinez, CP 389-391 (Findings of Fact Regarding Liability No. 9, 12, 13); (2) the evidence was that the statement by Howell to Martinez was only a joke and that Martinez took no offense to it, CP 391, CP 394 (Findings of Fact Regarding Liability No. 15, 22); (3) Northland had legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for terminating Currier's contract, CP 392-393, CP 397 (Finding of Fact Regarding Liability No. 18; Conclusion of Law Regarding Liability No. 8); (4)

Currier's truck tires were nearly bald and his truck license was expired, CP 395 (Finding of Fact Regarding Liability No. 23 (page 8)); and (5) Currier was obligated to operate in compliance with federal and state law, and his contract could be terminated immediately for default, CP 389 (Finding of Fact Regarding Liability No. 7). The trial court also erroneously concluded that Northland failed to prove it would have terminated Currier's contract based on after-acquired evidence, and entered a \$600,969 judgment against Northland.

B. Northland's Contract with Currier.

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