No. 70128-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LARRY CURRIER, LARRY CURRIER DBA AMERICAN CONTAINER EXPRESS, and AMERICAN CONTAINER EXPRESS, INC.

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

NORTHLAND SERVICES, INC.,

Defendant/Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Hugh J. McGavick Law Office of Hugh J. McGavick 11660 SW Lancaster Rd. Portland, OR 97219 P: (503) 246-2094 F: (503) 244-6233

Asa C. Garber 2300 9th Ave SW, Unit A7 Olympia, WA 98502 P: (360) 701-5969 F: (360) 639-8678 Attorneys for Plaintiff/Respondents

I.	Statement of the Case					
	A.	List of Individuals				
	B.	Facts				
II.	Argument					
	A.	Standard of Review				
	B.	Law of Retaliation9				
	C.	Three-step Shifting Burden of Proof.				
	D.	Currier established a prima facie case10				
		1.	Currie	r engaged in statutorily-protected conduct10		
		2.	Currie	r suffered an adverse employment action13		
		3.	Retaliatory motive was a substantial factor in terminating Currier's contract, and the non-retaliatory reasons NSI alleged for the termination did not remove the retaliatory motive			
			a.	"Substantial factor" defined13		
			b.	There is substantial evidence in the record that retaliation was a substantial factor in NSI terminating Currier's contract, regardless of any non-retaliatory reason NSI alleged		
	E.	Currier reported conduct he reasonably believed to be racis and discriminatory				
	F.	Substantial evidence supports the trial court's conclusion that after-acquired evidence would not have resulted in NS terminating Currier.				

	G.	The trial court did not err in granting attorneys' fees and				
		costs	38			
III.	Requ	uest for Attorneys' Fees	39			
IV.	Conc	clusion	39			

Table of Authorities

Table of Cases

Allison v. Housing Authority of City of Seattle, 118 Wn.2d 79, 96, 821 P.2d 34 (1991)
Bering v. Share, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P. 2d 918 (1986)8
Blair v. Wash. State Univ., 108 Wn.2d 558, 572, 740 P.2d 1379 (1987)
Estevez v. Faculty Club, 129 Wn.App. 774, 120 P.3d 579 (2005)
Gifford v. Atkinson, Topeka & Santa Fe Ry., 685 F.2d 1149(9th Cir. 1982)
Graves v. Dept. of Game, 76 Wn.App. 705, 887 P.2d 424 (1994)
Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 186-87, 23 P.3d 440 (2001)
Holland v. Gee, 677 F.3d 1047, 1065 (11th Cir. 2012)28
Hollingsworth v. Wash. Mutual, 37 Wn. App. 386, 392, 681 P. 2d 845 (1984)
In re Estate of Jones, 152 Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004)
In re Welfare of Snyder, 85 Wn.2d 182, 188, 532 P. 2d 278 (1975)8
Janson v. North Valley Hosp., 93 Wn.App. 892, 901-902, 971 P.2d 67 (1999)
Kahn v. Salerno, 90 Wn.App. 110, 951 P.2d 321, review denied, 136 Wn.2d 1016 (1998)) (1998)
Kanhoye v. Altana, Inc., 686 F. Supp. 2d 199 (ED NY 2010)27, 36-37

Keever & Assocs. v. Randall, 129 Wn.App. 733, 737, 119 P.3d 926 (2005)
Marquis v. City of Spokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 922 P.2d 43 (1996)22, 23
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973)9
McGinnis v. Kentucky Fried Chicken of California, 51 F.3d 805, 810 (9th Cir. 1994)
McKennon v. Nashville Banner Publishing Co., 513 U.S. 352, 362 (1995)
O'Day v. McDonnell Douglas Helicopter Co., 79 F.3d 756, 762 (9th Cir. 1996)
Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic, P.S., 114 Wn.App. 611, 618-19, 60 P.3d 106 (2002)
Sharbono v. Universal Underwriters Ins. Co., 139 Wn.App. 383, 420, 161 P.3d 406 (2007)
Smith v. Berry Co., 165 F. 3d 390, 395 (5 th Cir.), rehearing on other grounds denied, 198 F.3d 150 (5th Cir. 1999)37
State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994)9, 15
Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003)
Thomas v. iStar Financial, Inc., 508 F. Supp. 2d 252, 259 (2007), aff'ed 629 F.3d 276 (2d Cir. 2010)
United States Postal Serv. Bd. of Governors v. Aikens, 460 U.S. 711, 75 L.Ed.2d 403, 103 S.Ct. 1478 (1983))
Weyerhaeuser v. Tacoma-Pierce County Health Dep't, 123 Wn.App. 59, 96 P.3d 460 (2004)
Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp., 118 Wn.2d 46, 821 P.2d 18 (1991)

Other Authorities - Washington Pattern Jury Instructions

I. Statement of the Case

A. List of Individuals

For ease of reference, Plaintiffs provide the following list of the primary individuals involved in this matter:

- Plaintiff Larry Currier ("Currier") An independent contractor/truck driver who worked for Defendant Northland Services, Inc. ("NSI") from 2005-2008.
- Plaintiff Larry Currier DBA American Container Express The name under which Plaintiff Larry Currier was known, and paid, when he worked for Defendant NSI from 2005-2008.
- Plaintiff American Container Express, Inc. At all relevant times,
 a Washington corporation when Plaintiff Larry Currier, and Plaintiff
 Larry Currier, DBA American Container Express, worked for Defendant
 NSI from 2005-2008.
- Judi McQuade NSI Quality Assurance Manager in August 2008.
- James "Jim" Sleeth NSI Dispatcher, who supervised the drivers, in August 2008.
- Patrick Franssen NSI Dispatcher, who supervised the drivers, in August 2008.
- Larry Graham NSI Terminal Manager in August 2008.

- Bill Howell A Caucasian independent contractor/truck driver for NSI.
- Marcos Martinez A Mexican independent contractor/truck driver for NSI.

B. Facts

Plaintiff Larry Currier owned a truck and hauled loads for NSI from 2005 through August 14, 2008. RP 129:12-21; 167:10-18. He had a contract with NSI to do so under the name: Larry Currier, DBA American Container Express (also a plaintiff here). RP 124:24-126:6. He was paid as "Larry Currier, DBA American Container Express." RP 122:16-123:18; 169:24-174:1. Currier was the only employee, agent, proprietor, decision-maker, operator, and shareholder of Plaintiff American Container Express, Inc.

Throughout his time at NSI, Currier witnessed numerous incidents of what he reasonably believed to be illegal discrimination, and illegal terms and conditions of employment, on the basis of race, national origin and gender – illegal conduct that was known or witnessed, tolerated, and unopposed by dispatchers and other management from NSI. *See, e.g.*, RP 152:4-153:1: 158:6-166:3.

Even before he worked for NSI, he had been at NSI's terminal and had been offended by "a lot of hate speech – there was always racism and

sexism" on NSI's citizens ban ("CB") channel. RP 127:21-128:4.

Because of his disgust at his prior CB experience, he removed the CB from his truck when he was hired by NSI, so he would not have to be subjected to such treatment on a daily basis. RP 146:23-147:18. In 2005, Currier refused to install a CB radio in his truck when he was requested to do so by NSI Yard supervisor Tom Vires. RP 147:9-17. Currier told Vires he would not do so because he did not want to be involved in the frequent racist and sexist banter that took place on the company's radio frequency. *Id*.

On or about August 19, 2007, very shortly after Vires subsequently told Currier it was required, Currier purchased and installed a CB in his truck. RP 147:10-148:22 (Currier); Trial Ex. 4 (see Plaintiffs'-Respondents' Supplemental Designation of Exhibits, filed contemporaneously with this brief). NSI did not require all drivers to have CB's. RP 796:22-797:6; 810:14-19 (Vires). As a driver, before he became a dispatcher, Jim Sleeth heard discriminatory banter on the CB radio, which led him to choose to keep his CB radio off at NSI. RP 677:17-678:5; 679:3-16.

In 2008, Currier witnessed Terry Mock, another independent contractor/driver for NSI, in the dispatch office one morning verbally abusing two Mexican drivers named Victor and Julio. Mock stated, in

front of Currier and NSI dispatchers: "Hey F'ing Mexicans, what do you got for sale? I know you got something for sale because all Mexicans are thieves. Come on, what have you guys got for sale?" RP 158:12-159:8 (Currier). When no dispatcher protested this language, Currier told Mock he could not talk like that. Currier then apologized to Victor and Julio about what had just happened, and told them they did not have to put up with being treated like that. *Id*.

On August 12, 2008, Currier was working for NSI at Seattle
Terminal 115. RP 162:19-163:6 (Currier). About noon, he witnessed
another NSI contractor named Bill Howell yell across six truck lanes to
another trucker, a Mexican man named Marcos Martinez, who was
speaking with Currier at the time. Howell yelled: "Hey, F'ing Mexican,
you know why you have to go to Portland and I don't? Because F'ing
Mexicans are good at crossing borders." RP 163:7-165:11. Currier was
disturbed by Howell's comment, and he proceeded to complain to NSI
Quality Assurance Manager, Judy McQuade (RP 347:7-14), instead of to
dispatch (which he viewed as a big part of the problem). See RP 163:13167:13 (Currier); 348:23-349:17 (McQuade). McQuade heard Currier's
complaint, and asked if he came to her because he felt dispatch was also
involved in racial discrimination: he answered yes. RP 167:4-9 (Currier).
She said they may need a class. Id.

McQuade immediately reported Currier's complaints to Sleeth, and to Franssen the next day. RP 351:21-352:10; 353:14-16 (McQuade). She testified she and Sleeth met with Martinez and Howell, and McQuade told them such comments or jokes would not be tolerated at NSI. RP 353:25-354:7; 359:13-18 (McQuade). In prior answers to interrogatories, she stated that on August 13 she, Franssen, and Sleeth spoke separately with each driver – Martinez and Howell. RP 358:1-359:10.

On August 14, 2008, NSI dispatcher Jim Sleeth called Currier into the dispatch office and reported that McQuade had interviewed Howell and Martinez, and determined that Howell was "just joking" with Martinez and therefore his comments were acceptable. RP 167:10-168:4 (Currier). Sleeth then advised Currier that he was fired. When Currier asked why, Sleeth responded he "was (Currier's) customer and that he was not happy with (Currier's) customer service." RP 168:5-9 (Currier); RP 661:12-25; 685:20-686:2 (Sleeth). The other decision-maker, Patrick Franssen, agreed. RP 605:8-15 (Franssen). Their actions also terminated the contract between NSI and Plaintiff Larry Currier, DBA American Container Express, Inc., and any relationship between NSI and Plaintiff American Container Express, Inc., See RP 650:1-8; 696:23-697:14.

Sleeth testified at trial he'd learned about an argument that concerned Larry Currier involving other drivers, but received no details, and claims he learned about it from Patrick Franssen, not Judy McQuade. RP 671:21-672:16. He denied he had spoken to either driver (Marco Martinez or Billy Howell) about anything related to Larry Currier's concerns involving racist comments. RP 672:20-24. At trial, Sleeth denied he knew the substance of Larry Currier's August 12, 2008 complaint before he terminated Mr. Currier on August 14. RP 698:4-700:11. That testimony was consistent with his interrogatory answers. RP 700:12-701:18; Trial Ex. 76 (*see* Supp. Desig. of Ex.). At trial, he denied he had spoken to Judy McQuade regarding Currier's concerns about the two drivers before Currier was terminated. RP 701:19-702:13. He denied that he ever spoke to McQuade, Martinez, Howell, or Currier about the August 12 incident. RP 701:23-702:1; 705:12-24.

Franssen denies he attended a meeting with McQuade, Marcos Martinez, and Billy Howell on August 13, 2008. RP 596:15-22. He recalled something regarding "... Marco being Hispanic and Billy saying he was going south of the border," RP 597:17-23, but they were "just joking," RP 597:24-598:14; 599:21-600:11. He claims he only learned of Currier's complaint from McQuade after she had been in a meeting with Martinez and Howell. RP 359:9-20. He was involved in Currier's termination on August 14, the day after he claims to have learned about Currier's August 12 complaint. RP 601:19-602:3.

The dispatchers consulted with terminal operations manager Larry Graham on August 14, 2008, for guidance on how to terminate Currier's contract. RP 766:21-2; 769:24-770:8 (Graham). They did not tell Graham customer complaints were part of their reasons for wanting to terminate Currier, or about Currier allegedly agitating other drivers. RP 769:223-23; 774:9-11; 769:6-15 (Graham). They mentioned nothing to Graham on August 14 about Currier's two-day old complaint about Martinez and Howell. RP 774:12-20 (Graham). Graham only learned of Currier's August 12 complaint during the course of litigation, and would not have approved of Currier's contract termination if the dispatchers had told him they wanted to terminate Currier's contract because of his complaint. RP 775:9-15; 776:21-777:8 (Graham).

Currier filed a retaliation charge with the Seattle Office of Civil Rights (SOCR), which was handled by SOCR Investigator Chenelle Love. RP 931:1-933:4. She typed contemporaneous notes on May 11, 2008 as she interviewed McQuade in person, and Sleeth and Franssen separately by phone, with defense counsel on the line. *See* RP 936:1-4; 952:17-25; 936:21-937:13; 937:22-938:4; 938:13-16. McQuade told Love that after she met with Larry Currier, she "called or emailed Denise, my boss, and talked to Jim [Sleeth] and Patrick [Franssen]," and then "[w]e ended up talking to Marco [Martinez] and Billy [Howell]. I never talked to Larry

again." RP 949:19-25. Franssen told Love he learned of Currier's August 12, 2008 complaint from McQuade, and had participated in the August 13 meeting with Martinez and Howell. RP 950:19-951:3. Sleeth told Love that he, Franssen, and McQuade had spoken with Martinez and Howell. RP 951:20-25.

II. Argument

A. Standard of Review

For an appeal of a bench trial, appellate review of findings of fact are limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the trial court's conclusions of law. *Keever & Assocs. v. Randall*, 129 Wn.App. 733, 737, 119 P.3d 926 (2005). Substantial evidence exists when there is a sufficient quantity of evidence in the entire record to persuade a fairminded, rational person that a finding is true. *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004); *accord Bering v. Share*, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P. 2d 918 (1986); *In re Welfare of Snyder*, 85 Wn.2d 182, 188, 532 P. 2d 278 (1975) (reviewing the entire record to determine whether substantial evidence existed).

An appellate court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party and defers to the trial court regarding witness credibility and conflicting testimony. Weyerhaeuser v. Tacoma-Pierce

County Health Dep't, 123 Wn.App. 59, 65, 96 P.3d 460 (2004). Factual findings to which an appellant assigned no error are verities on appeal. State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994).

Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003).

B. Law of Retaliation

Currier brought his claim of retaliation under RCW 49.60.210(1), which provides:

It is an unfair practice for any employer, employment agency, labor union, or other person to discharge, expel, or otherwise discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any practices forbidden by this chapter, or because he or she has filed a charge, testified, or assisted in any proceeding under this chapter.

C. Three-step Shifting Burden of Proof¹

A retaliation claim involves a three-step, shifting burden of proof. See McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). First, the plaintiff must make out a prima facie case of retaliation – establishing a rebuttable presumption of retaliation. This prima facie case requires proof

¹ Once a case has been tried on the merits, the Court can focus on the discriminatory or retaliatory conduct without review of the three-step analysis. See Hollingsworth v. Wash. Mutual, 37 Wn. App. 386, 392, 681 P. 2d 845 (1984) (citing United States Postal Serv. Bd. of Governors v. Aikens, 460 U.S. 711, 75 L.Ed.2d 403, 103 S.Ct. 1478 (1983)). Nevertheless, Plaintiff finds the framework to be a useful and straightforward way to address the evidentiary issues and burdens here.

that (a) the plaintiff engaged in statutorily protected activity, (b) suffered an adverse employment action, and (c) retaliation was a substantial factor for it. *Kahn v. Salerno*, 90 Wn.App. 110, 129, 951 P.2d 321, *review denied*, 136 Wn.2d 1016 (1998).

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